RECEIVED

Jan 09 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

Trial Court Case No. 2022-CP-32-02339
Appellate Case No. 2025-000647

Nancy Arellano, individually
and as parent and natural guardian
of Minor Z.A.,

Respondent,

v.

School District No. Two of Lexington
County, State of South Carolina,

Appellant.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF



Andrea E. White (SC Bar No. 11891)
Dylan A. Crossland (SC Bar No. 105736)
WHITE & STORY, LLC
P.O. Box 7036 (29202)
3614 Landmark Dr., Suite EF
Columbia, SC 29204
T: (803) 814.0993
awhite@sodacitylaw.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING THE DISTRICT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT WHERE RESPONDENT FAILED TO PRESENT EVIDENCE FROM WHICH A REASONABLE JURY COULD CONCLUDE THAT THE DISTRICT FAILED TO EXERCISE AT LEAST SLIGHT CARE IN SUPERVISING AND PROTECTING Z.A.?
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO CHARGE THE JURY REGARDING S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-78-60(20), WHICH IMMUNIZES GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES FROM LIABILITY FOR ACTS OR OMISSIONS OF NON-EMPLOYEES, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO CRIMINAL ACTIONS OF THIRD PARTIES?
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING THE DISTRICT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL ABSOLUTE OR, ALTERNATIVELY, A NEW TRIAL NISI REMITTITUR, WHERE THE JURY'S \$245,000 VERDICT WAS GROSSLY EXCESSIVE, UNSUPPORTED BY EVIDENCE, AND THE PRODUCT OF PASSION OR PREJUDICE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of a negligence action brought by Nancy Arellano, as parent¹ and natural guardian of her minor daughter, Z.A. (“Respondent” or “Z.A.”), against Lexington County School District Two (“the District” or “Appellant”). Respondent’s claims resulted from a May 2022 classroom incident in which another kindergarten student, identified herein as “Student K,” inappropriately touched Z.A.

Respondent’s Complaint sets forth several theories of liability. The Complaint alleges as follows: (1) the District was negligent and grossly negligent in protecting Z.A. from the incident involving Student K; (2) the District was negligent and grossly negligent in responding to the incident after it was reported; and (3) the District was negligent and grossly negligent in referring the matter to the South Carolina Department of Social Services (“DSS”). The District denied liability and asserted defenses under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act (“SCTCA”), S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-78-10 *et seq.*, including the statutory exemption for losses caused by the acts of non-employees under § 15-78-60(20).

A three-day jury trial was held in the Court of Common Pleas for Lexington County before the Honorable William P. Keesley from October 7 through October 10, 2024. At the close of Respondent’s case, the District moved for a directed verdict, arguing Respondent had failed to present evidence from which a reasonable jury could conclude: (1) that the District was grossly negligent in supervising or protecting students; (2) that Nancy Arellano personally suffered damages; and (3) that the District acted with gross negligence in referring the matter to DSS.

¹ Nancy Arellano’s individual claim was dismissed at the directed verdict stage and not appealed. (R. p. 464, line 20 – p. 465, line 7).

The trial court granted the motion in part, dismissing Nancy Arellano’s individual claim and her claim related to the District’s referral of the matter to DSS. The court denied the remainder of the District’s motion and the District subsequently presented its case to the jury.

Prior to closing arguments, the District specifically requested that the court instruct the jury on S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(20), which provides that a governmental entity is not liable for a loss resulting from the acts of non-employees, “including but not limited to the criminal actions of third persons.” The District asserted that the statutory provision directly applied because the incident leading to the claims against it resulted from the act of another student (Student K) and did not involve an act by any District employee. The court refused the instruction, with the trial judge reasoning that a six-year-old child could not legally commit a crime. The District renewed its request after the court delivered the charge to the jury.

On October 10, 2024, the jury returned a verdict awarding two hundred and forty-five thousand dollars (\$245,000.00) to Respondent on behalf of Z.A. The District timely filed post-trial motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, or in the alternative, for a new trial absolute or a new trial nisi remittitur, pursuant to Rules 50 and 59, SCRPC. In those motions, the District argued that the uncontroverted evidence demonstrated it exercised at least slight care, that the refusal to charge § 15-78-60(20) deprived the jury of a correct statement of law, and that the verdict was grossly excessive and unsupported by the evidence. By Order dated March 5, 2025, the circuit court denied all post-trial relief.

The District now appeals, seeking reversal of the circuit court’s order, entry of judgment in its favor, or, alternatively, a new trial or remittitur.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In May 2022, Z.A., a kindergarten student at Saluda River Academy for the Arts, was involved in an incident in which another kindergarten student, “Student K”, briefly and

inappropriately touched Z.A. in her groin area during classroom instruction. The classroom, comprised of approximately twenty-four (24) students, was staffed with a certified kindergarten teacher, Sadie Ray (“Ray”), and a full-time teaching assistant, Kimberly Long (“Long”). (R. p. 174, lines 3-24; p. 220, line 1; and p. 485, lines 3-17). The presence of both teachers exceeded state staffing requirements for kindergarten classrooms. (R. p. 505, lines 14-25). Long had significant experience working with young children, including multiple years as a teaching assistant in the District and prior employment in daycare settings. (R. p. 220, Lines 5-25; and p. 484, lines 16-24). Neither Ray nor Long had any history of unsatisfactory performance and neither had been the subject of complaints regarding their supervision. (R. p. 220, lines 17-25; p. 221, lines 1-13; p. 385, lines 10-25; p. 386, lines 1-8; p. 499, lines 6-19; and p. 485, lines 12-21).

On the day of the incident, both staff members were actively supervising students. (R. p. 246, lines 6-20; and p. 489, line 14 – p. 456, line 2). Ray testified she was circulating through the classroom monitoring students immediately before the touching occurred and had just returned to her desk when a student reported the incident to her. (R. p. 180, lines 18-24; p. 246, lines 6-20; and p. 490, lines 8-17). Long confirmed she was in the classroom engaging with students and monitoring activities. (R. p. 181, lines 6-20; and p. 489, lines 21-25; and p. 490, lines 2-7).

The classroom was designed to provide maximum visibility and supervision. (R. p. 229, lines 1-17). Both Ray and Long testified there were no blind spots in the room. (R. p. 229, lines 12-17; and p. 490, line 18 - p. 491, line 2). Ray arranged students’ desks so she could view the entire classroom from her desk at the front, while Long’s desk at the back provided a full line of sight in the opposite direction. (R. p. 229, lines, 14-17; p. 235, lines 1-2; p. 490, lines 18 - p. 491, line 2). At the time of the incident, the classroom overhead lights and lamps were all on and the blinds were open, ensuring clear visibility throughout the space. (R. p. 182, lines 13-19; p. 234, lines 6-23; and p. 245, lines 1-3).

Prior to the incident, the District had adopted and enforced policies addressing student supervision, prevention of harassment, and procedures for investigating student misconduct. (R. p. 493, lines 4-9; p. 494, lines 8-23; p. 495, lines 17-25; p. 497, lines 3-12; and p. 498, line 21 - p. 499, line 5). Just weeks before the incident, the school counselor, Catherine Prizer (“Prizer”), presented a “Safe Touch” lesson to the kindergarten class. (R. p. 287, line 25 – p. 288, line 1; and p. 319, line 15 – p. 320, line 10). This age-appropriate instructional program educated students on distinguishing between appropriate and inappropriate touching, both by adults and by peers. (R. p. 219, lines 9-22; p. 288, lines 12-22; and p. 319, line 15 – p. 320, line 10).

No evidence suggested that Student K had engaged in any similar conduct before this event. (R. p. 223, lines 3-24; p. 320, lines 14-17; p. 354, lines 8-9; and p. 486, line 18 – p. 487, line 4). Teachers and administrators testified that Student K and Z.A. were friends, and neither had any history of disciplinary problems. (R. p. 223, lines 3-24; p. 224, lines 8-23; p. 486, line 18 – p. 487, line 4; and p. 488, lines 13-15). No reports of prior inappropriate conduct, harassment, or safety concerns had ever been raised involving Student K. (R. p. 223, lines 11-24; p. 320, lines 14-17; and p. 486, line 24 – p. 487, line 4).

After Ray learned of the touching, she immediately notified Assistant Principal Annette Ariail (“Ariail”), who began an investigation. (R. p. 186, lines 17-25; p. 249, line 21 – p. 250, line 12; and p. 361, lines 1-8). Ariail interviewed Z.A. and Student K in a manner tailored to their age and understanding and also interviewed the student who reported the incident to Ray. (R. p. 187, lines 1-3; p. 251, lines 9-12; p. 362, lines 1-12; p. 364, lines 2-9, 12-24; p. 500, lines 5-21; and p. 337, line 12 – p. 338, line 9). At the conclusion of Ariail’s investigation, the school determined that an inappropriate touching had occurred and took immediate action. (R. p. 373, lines 14-17; p. 378, lines 9-11; and p. 463, lines 10-13). They notified law enforcement and referred Student K for possible discipline consistent with District policy. (R. p. 376, lines 10-20; p. 397, lines 2-7; and p.

356, lines 17-19). Ray and Prizer also made a referral to DSS because, during her interview with Prizer, Z.A. had displayed inappropriate knowledge of specific sexual acts, indicating potential neglect or abuse. (R. p. 200, lines, 12-24; p. 262, lines 13-22; p. 291, lines 11-20; p. 292, lines 8-13; p. 298, lines 14-25; p. 304, lines 1-11; p. 306, lines 2-13; p. 323, lines 15-22; and p. 324, lines 15-25).

At trial, Respondent presented no evidence to contradict the District witnesses' testimony about the layout of the classroom or the supervision that was provided on the date of the incident. Instead, Respondent's counsel argued to the jury that the occurrence of the incident standing alone was sufficient to establish that the District was grossly negligent in its supervision of the classroom and its protection of Z.A.

After the incident, Z.A. was treated by counselor Narumi Amador ("Amador"), who saw Z.A. approximately twelve (12) times without presenting any evidence on the total amount of counseling bills. (R. p. 435, lines 18-24; and p. 440, lines 14-17). Amador last saw Z.A. in November 2023 and testified that, as of October 2024, she had received no requests to release Z.A.'s records to another counselor. (R. p. 435, lines 2-17; and p. 433, lines 9-24).

Amador testified she could not definitively answer the question whether Z.A. would need medical treatment or counseling in the future as a result of the classroom incident. (R. p. 451, lines 10-25). Amador agreed that additional current stressors in Z.A.'s life, including changing schools, moving to a new city, and anticipating receiving visits from her biological father, could cause anxiety for Z.A. (R. p. 443, line 13 – p. 411, line 18).

Respondent presented no additional medical or expert testimony regarding the damages she asserts were sustained by Z.A. as a result of the classroom incident. Significantly, Respondent testified that Z.A. was currently making good grades, did not have any discipline or academic issues, and was not currently seeing a counselor. (R. p. 84, lines 10-24).

Despite the speculative nature of Respondent's damages, the jury ultimately returned a verdict of two hundred and forty-five thousand dollars (\$245,000.00) in favor of Z.A.

APPLICABLE STANDARDS OF REVIEW

I. Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict.

In reviewing the denial of a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the appellate court applies the same standard as the trial court. The evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Strange v. S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp.*, 314 S.C. 427, 445 S.E.2d 439 (1994). A motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict should be granted if the evidence yields only one reasonable inference or if no evidence exists from which a jury could properly find for the non-moving party. *Gastineau v. Murphy*, 331 S.C. 565, 503 S.E.2d 712 (1998). While conflicts in the evidence must be resolved in favor of the non-movant, "speculative, theoretical, and hypothetical" inferences cannot sustain a verdict. *Hanahan v. Simpson*, 326 S.C. 140, 485 S.E.2d 903 (1997).

II. Jury Instructions.

The appellate court reviews the trial court's refusal to give a requested jury instruction for errors of law. *State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019). Whether a jury instruction is a correct statement of law is a question of law reviewed de novo. *State v. Adkins*, 353 S.C. 253, 578 S.E.2d 16 (2003). A party is entitled to a requested instruction if: (1) the request is a correct statement of law, (2) it is supported by the evidence, and (3) the substance of the request is not otherwise included in the court's charge. *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 529 S.E.2d 528 (2000). The trial court has discretion in the wording and form of jury instructions, but it commits reversible error if the refusal leaves the jury inadequately instructed on the applicable law. *State v. Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000).

III. Motions for New Trial and Remittitur.

The trial court's denial of motions for a new trial absolute or new trial nisi remittitur is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Sanders v. Prince*, 304 S.C. 236, 403 S.E.2d 640 (1991). An abuse occurs when the verdict is unsupported by the evidence or when the amount is so grossly excessive that it shocks the conscience and indicates it was the result of passion, prejudice, or other improper considerations. *Small v. Springs Indus.*, 292 S.C. 481, 357 S.E.2d 452 (1987).

Under the "thirteenth juror" doctrine, the trial judge may weigh the evidence and set aside a verdict that, in the judge's view, is not justified by the evidence. *Norton v. Norfolk S. Ry. Co.*, 350 S.C. 473, 567 S.E.2d 851 (2002). If the trial court denies to exercise its power to grant a new trial or a new trial nisi remittitur, the trial court's ruling is reviewed for abuse of discretion, but if the jury's award is grossly disproportionate to the evidence, a new trial or remittitur is warranted. *James v. Horace Mann Ins. Co.*, 371 S.C. 187, 638 S.E.2d 667 (2006).

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DISTRICT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT.

The South Carolina Tort Claims Act ("SCTCA" or "the Act"), S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-78-10 *et seq.*, provides a limited waiver of sovereign immunity, establishing both the circumstances under which a governmental entity may be held liable and the losses for which it cannot. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60. The General Assembly expressly directed that "the provisions of this chapter establishing limitations on and exemptions to the liability of the State ... must be liberally construed in favor of limiting the liability of the State." § 15-78-20(f).

Among these statutory limitations, § 15-78-60(20) exempts school districts from liability for "a loss resulting from an act or omission of a person other than an employee including but not limited to the criminal actions of third persons." This broad language reflects legislative intent to shield school districts from liability where damages result from unforeseeable misconduct by third

parties, including students. South Carolina courts consistently reject liability in such cases where the school exercised some degree of supervision and causation remains speculative.

A. Gross Negligence Requires Proof of a Conscious Failure to Act.

A school district may be liable for a student injury only if it failed to exercise **slight care** in its supervision and protection of the student. (Emphasis added) *Vinson v. Hartley*, 324 S.C. 389, 477 S.E.2d 715, 718 (Ct. App. 1996). Gross negligence — the standard required for liability — means “the intentional, conscious failure to do something which it is incumbent upon one to do” or “the doing of a thing intentionally that one ought not to do.” *Etheredge v. Richland Sch. Dist. One*, 341 S.C. 307, 311, 534 S.E.2d 275, 277 (2000).

The record here contains uncontradicted evidence that the District exercised at least slight care in supervising the classroom where Student K inappropriately touched Z.A. The class was staffed with a certified teacher and an experienced teacher assistant — a ratio exceeding state requirements. (R. p. 174, lines 3-24; p. 220, line 1; p. 485, lines 3-17; and p. 505, lines 14-25). Both actively monitored students when the incident occurred. (R. p. 246, lines 6-20; and p. 489, line 14 – p. 456, line 2). The classroom was free of blind spots, arranged for clear sight lines, and adequately lit. (R. p. 182, lines 13-19; p. 229, lines 12-17; p. 234, lines 6-23; p. 235, lines 1-2; p. 245, lines 1-3; and p. 490, line 18 - p. 491, line 2). The school counselor had recently delivered a “Safe Touch” program. (R. p. 219, lines 9-22; p. 287, line 25 – p. 288, line 1; p. 288, lines 12-22; and p. 319, line 15 – p. 320, line 10).

There was no history of prior misconduct by Student K, and both children were described as friends with no behavioral issues. (R. p. 223, lines 3-24; p. 224, lines 8-23; p. 486, line 18 – p. 487, line 4; and p. 488, lines 13-15). When notified, school officials promptly investigated, interviewed students, contacted law enforcement, notified DSS, and referred Student K for discipline. (R. p. 200, lines 12-24; p. 262, lines 13-22; p. 291, lines 11-20; p. 292, lines 8-13; p.

298, lines 14-25; p. 304, lines 1-11; p. 306, lines 2-13; p. 323, lines 15-22; and p. 324, lines 15-25; p. 356, lines 17-19; p. 373, lines 14-17; p. 376, lines 10-20; p. 378, lines 9-11; p. 397, lines 2-7; and p. 463, lines 10-13).

Respondent presented no contrary evidence. Their case relied solely on Plaintiff's counsel's speculation that Ray "might have been distracted" by paperwork — a claim Ray denied. (R. p. 209, lines 18-23). Speculation cannot establish gross negligence. *Small v. Pioneer Mach., Inc.*, 329 S.C. 448, 461, 494 S.E.2d 835, 841 (Ct. App. 1997).

B. Case Law Confirms That Liability Requires More Than the Occurrence of Injury

The Supreme Court's decision in *Greenville Memorial Auditorium v. Martin*, 301 S.C. 242, 391 S.E.2d 546 (1990), illustrates when liability may be attached. There, substantial evidence of foreseeability, including inadequate security for 6,000 patrons, open floor access, alcohol and drug use, unruly behavior, and acknowledgment of heightened risk, supported liability when a bottle was thrown from a balcony. *Greenville Memorial Auditorium v. Martin*, 301 S.C. 242, 391 S.E.2d 546 (1990).

This case is starkly different. The District staffed the classroom with two professionals, maintained clear sight lines and lighting, provided a "Safe Touch" lesson, had no prior incidents, and immediately responded once notified. (R. p. 246, lines 6-20; and p. 489, line 14 – p. 456, line 2); (R. p. 246, lines 6-20; and p. 489, line 14 – p. 456, line 2); (R. p. 182, lines 13-19; p. 229, lines 12-17; p. 234, lines 6-23; p. 235, lines 1-2; p. 245, lines 1-3; and p. 490, line 18 - p. 491, line 2); (R. p. 219, lines 9-22; p. 287, line 25 – p. 288, line 1; p. 288, lines 12-22; and p. 319, line 15 – p. 320, line 10); (R. p. 223, lines 3-24; p. 224, lines 8-23; p. 486, line 18 – p. 487, line 4; and p. 488, lines 13-15); and (R. p. 200, lines 12-24; p. 262, lines 13-22; p. 291, lines 11-20; p. 292, lines 8-13; p. 298, lines 14-25; p. 304, lines 1-11; p. 306, lines 2-13; p. 323, lines 15-22; and p. 324, lines

15-25; p. 356, lines 17-19; p. 373, lines 14-17; p. 376, lines 10-20; p. 378, lines 9-11; p. 397, lines 2-7; and p. 463, lines 10-13).

Unlike *Greenville Memorial*, there is no evidence that the District's conduct made the incident foreseeable. Plaintiff offered only conjecture, legally insufficient to establish gross negligence under South Carolina law.

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