THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000647
Case No. 2022CP3202339

RECEIVED

JAN 08 2026

SC Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jan 08 2026

SC Court of Appeals

Nancy Arellano, individually
and as parent and natural guardian
of Minor Z.A.,

Respondent,

v.

School District No. Two of Lexington
County, State of South Carolina,

Appellant.

RESPONDENT INITIAL BRIEF

s/ Trevor P. Eddy

Trevor P. Eddy, Esq. 100069

The Eddy Law Firm, LLC

1516 Richland Street

Suite B

Columbia SC, 29201

Phone: 803-250-5402

Trevor@theeddylawfirm.com

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

ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Properly Denied Appellant's Motion For Judgment Notwithstanding The Verdict

1. The Evidence Supported the Jury's Finding of Gross Negligence

Under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act (SCTCA), a governmental entity is not liable for loss resulting from responsibility or duty to supervise students except when the responsibility or duty is exercised in a grossly negligent manner *Clyburn v. Sumter County Sch. Dist. No. 17*, 317 S.C. 50, 451 S.E.2d 885 (1994). Gross negligence is the intentional, conscious failure to do something which it is incumbent upon one to do or the doing of a thing intentionally that one ought not to do *Clyburn v. Sumter County Sch. Dist. No. 17*, 317 S.C. 50, 451 S.E.2d 885 (1994).

The evidence presented at trial supported the jury's finding that Appellant was grossly negligent in its supervision of Z.A. While Appellant argues that it provided adequate supervision, the jury was entitled to find that the supervision was inadequate given that a serious sexual assault occurred in the classroom during regular instruction time.

Ms. Ray testified that at the time of the incident, the students were working at their desks on an end of the year project. Ms. Long was sitting in the back of the room at her desk for students to come to for assistance. The students were not supposed to leave their desks save to go to Ms. Long for assistance with the project. Ms. Ray testified that she had just completed a circuit of the

room before sitting down at her desk. The chief defense from Ms. Ray was that she only took her eyes off the classroom for 1-2 seconds before the witness approached her (R I, p. 209, line 4).

For two reasons, the jury had ample evidence not to believe Ms. Ray's testimony that she only took her eyes off the class for 1-2 seconds: physical impossibility and Ms. Ray's poor recollection of events. First, the jury heard testimony that in order for the incident to occur the following events would have to take place within 1-2 seconds:

- Plaintiff would have to turn and call Assailant to her desk;
- Assailant would have to stand up and walk across the classroom to Plaintiff's desk;
- After an unknown amount of time at Plaintiff's desk, Assailant would then have to pull open Plaintiff's pants and place his hand between her legs;
- Eye witness would have to witness the event;
- Assailant would have to stand back up and return to his desk;
- Eye witness would have to stand up and walk to Ms. Ray's desk.

The jury clearly decided that the event had to have taken place over a longer period of time than 1-2 seconds and that therefore Ms. Ray had to have been distracted from her duty to supervise the children for much longer than she testified. There was ample evidence on the record that Ms. Ray had to have been distracted for a long enough period of time for the assault to have occurred and said distraction was long enough to reasonably be considered grossly negligent.

Second, Plaintiff introduced numerous evidence showing that Ms. Ray's memory of the events was problematic. Ms. Ray's trial testimony differed from her deposition testimony on whether the lights were dimmed in the classroom (R I, p. 271, lines 11-21). Ms. Ray's trial testimony of the initial eyewitness statement to her differed meaningfully from her deposition testimony. Ms. Ray further testified at trial that there was no significant difference between what eyewitness told her and the written statement of eyewitness, when of course her trial testimony of the eyewitness statement was very different from the actual written statement (R I, p. 273, lines 20-24). Ms. Ray testified at trial that Plaintiff and the Assailant were the same height, when Ms.

Long later corrected that in fact Assailant was a full foot taller than Plaintiff (R I, p. 487, lines 21-23). In short, Ms. Ray's memory of the event was not credible enough for a jury to believe that she had only taken her eyes off the children for 1-2 seconds.

Additionally, and lastly, the schools response to the assault once notified is evidence of gross negligence in how the Defendant and its employees responded to the incident. Ms. Ray and Ms. Prizer repeatedly testified to the jury that they never blamed Plaintiff for the assault. The jury knew this defense to be a lie because of the written form recounting their complaint to DSS. The DSS report form in evidence clearly stated "She also accused the same boy of pulling her pants away from her waist & looking down them, but she had actually pulled the pants down and asked him to look." This statement was proved to be a lie to the jury by the statements in evidence of the eyewitness and Assailant. Thus, the school's response constituted additional gross negligence in the District's duty to protect Z.A. from further harm.

The burden of establishing the limitation upon liability under the SCTCA is upon the governmental entity asserting it as an affirmative defense *Doe by Roe v. Orangeburg County Sch. Dist. No. 2*, 329 S.C. 221, 495 S.E.2d 230 (1998). Gross negligence ordinarily is a mixed question of law and fact *Doe by Roe v. Orangeburg County Sch. Dist. No. 2*, 329 S.C. 221, 495 S.E.2d 230 (1998). Here, the jury was properly instructed on the gross negligence standard and had sufficient evidence to conclude that Appellant failed to meet even the slight care standard required under the SCTCA.

B. The Trial Court Properly Refused To Charge The Jury On S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(20)

- 1. The Requested Instruction Was Inapplicable Because Section 15-78-60(20) does not apply where Gross Negligence has been established.**

The trial court properly refused Appellant's requested instruction on S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(20), which exempts governmental entities from liability for acts or omissions of persons other than employees, including criminal actions of third persons. The trial court correctly reasoned that a six-year-old child cannot legally commit a crime, making the criminal acts provision inapplicable.

More importantly, this case was not just about liability for the acts of Student K, but rather about Appellant's own gross negligence in failing to adequately supervise students and in responding inappropriately to the incident. The SCTCA makes governmental entities liable for their torts in the same manner and to the same extent as private individuals under like circumstances, subject to the limitations and exemptions contained therein S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-40. The exemption in § 15-78-60(20) does not shield governmental entities from liability for their own gross negligence in supervision. *Etheredge v. Richland School Dist. 1*, 330 S.C. 447, 463, 499 S.E.2d 238, 246 (Ct. App. 1998) (when an action is brought alleging gross negligence by a governmental entity pursuant to an exception contained in Section 15-78-60, all other applicable exceptions must be read in light of the exception containing the gross negligence standard), cert. granted on other grounds, April 8, 1999. *See also* Jackson v. South Carolina Dep't of Corrections, 301 S.C. 125, 390 S.E.2d 467 (Ct. App. 1989), *aff'd*, 302 S.C. 519, 397 S.E.2d 377 (1990).

1. **The Requested Instruction Was Inapplicable Because Section 15-78-60(20) does not apply where the cause of action is for failure to protect or supervise.**

The Supreme Court has held that school districts may be liable for negligent supervision of students only if that duty was executed in a grossly negligent manner *Doe v. Greenville County Sch. Dist.*, 375 S.C. 63, 651 S.E.2d 305 (2007). This liability is based on the district's own conduct, not on the acts of third parties. Therefore, the requested instruction would have been misleading

and inappropriate under the circumstances of this case.

In *Greenville Memorial Auditorium v. Martin*, 301 S.C. 242, 391 S.E.2d 546 (1990), Martin was a patron at a rock concert was struck by a glass bottle thrown from the balcony of the city auditorium. The governmental entity sought dismissal under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(20) (1986). In affirming the trial court's refusal to dismiss, our Supreme Court stated:

Section 15-78-60(20) provides that a governmental entity is not liable for a loss resulting from the act or omission of a person other than an employee including, but not limited to, the criminal acts of third persons. Appellant asserts the trial judge erred in failing to dismiss the action under this section because there was no evidence appellant's employees caused respondent's injuries and because such injuries were caused by the criminal acts of a third person.

Here, respondent's complaint alleged appellant and its employees were negligent in adequately securing and maintaining the premises during the concert and this negligence created a reasonably foreseeable risk of such third party conduct. Respondent's complaint did not allege appellant was liable because of the criminal act of a third party. Consequently, Section 15-78-60(20) would not operate to exonerate appellant of liability for its own conduct.

Appellant cannot successfully defend that respondent's injuries were caused by the wrongful criminal act of a third party, where the very basis upon which appellant is claimed to be negligent is that appellant created a reasonably foreseeable risk of such third-party conduct.

Greenville Memorial Auditorium v. Martin, 301 S.C. at 246-47, 391 S.E.2d at 548-49 (1990).

In *Woodell v. Marion School Dist. One*, 307 S.C. 297, 414 S.E.2d 794 (Ct. App. 1992), Shirley Allen, as guardian ad litem for Karen Christine Woodell, a student who was assaulted at school by another student, sued the School District pursuant to the Tort Claims Act alleging the School District was grossly negligent in supervising both Woodell and her assailant. The trial court granted the School District's Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, motion to dismiss and held § 15-78-60(20) immunized the School District from liability for a loss caused by a third party's criminal action. The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded explaining:

Here, the complaint does not seek to pin liability on the school district because of the alleged criminal action of the other student; rather, as we noted above, it focuses on the school district's alleged gross negligence in supervising Woodell and the

student who allegedly attacked Woodell. Cf. *Greenville Memorial Auditorium v. Martin*, 301 S.C. 242, 391 S.E.2d 546 (1990)(the trial judge committed no error in not dismissing an action under section 15-78-60(20) where a patron at a rock concert was struck by a bottle thrown from a balcony of a municipal auditorium because the complaint did not allege the municipality was liable for the criminal act of a third party but alleged the municipality and its employees were negligent in securing and maintaining the premises during the concert). A governmental entity may be liable to a student for a loss when the entity's responsibility to supervise, protect, or control a student "is exercised in a grossly negligent manner." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(25) (Supp. 1990). Whether in fact Woodell's loss resulted from the school district's alleged grossly negligent supervision of Woodell and the other student or from the alleged criminal action of the other student is not a question that the trial court should have decided on a motion to dismiss. *Woodell*, 307 S.C. at 298, 414 S.E.2d at 794-95.

In the present case, Plaintiff's cause of action against the Defendant was clearly laid out as a failure to protect and supervise. That was the substance of the Complaint as well as the charges to the jury. At no point did Plaintiff seek compensation for the direct acts of the Assailant, but merely for the Defendant's failure to protect Plaintiff from the Assailant or otherwise supervise the classroom and students.

C. The Trial Court Properly Denied Appellant's Motions For New Trial

1. The Verdict Was Supported by the Evidence

The trial court properly found that the \$245,000 verdict was supported by the evidence and did not shock the conscience. The evidence established that Z.A. suffered significant psychological trauma as a result of both the assault and the school's inadequate response.

Treating therapist testimony established that Z.A. has been diagnosed with an adjustment disorder with symptoms of depression and anxiety, is permanently affected by the incident, continues to have panic attacks, and may develop post-traumatic stress disorder. The treating therapist testified that there is no way to know exactly how many treatment sessions might be required for Z.A. to recover.

In determining damages in a personal injury action, courts have held that pain and suffering, loss of enjoyment of life, and mental anguish are all separately compensable elements of damages *Parent v. Cooper*, 2023 S.C. C.P. LEXIS 645. South Carolina law has long allowed a negligence plaintiff to recover for emotional harm in cases where the plaintiff has also suffered physical harm *K.S. v. Richland Sch. Dist. Two*, 445 S.C. 111, 532 S.E.2d 263 (2020). The physical harm may consist of the physical manifestations caused by emotional distress *K.S. v. Richland Sch. Dist. Two*, 445 S.C. 111, 532 S.E.2d 263 (2020).

2. The Verdict Was Not the Product of Passion or Prejudice

Under the thirteenth juror doctrine, a trial court may grant a new trial if the judge determines the jury's verdict is "contrary to the fair preponderance of the evidence." *R.C. McEntire v. Mooregard Exterminating Servs., Inc.*, 353 S.C. 629, 633, 578 S.E.2d 746, 748 (2003). The trial court's discretion to grant or deny a new trial as the thirteenth juror is very broad. "As has often been said, the trial judge is the thirteenth juror, possessing the veto power to the Nth degree" *Worrell v. S.C. Power Co.*, 186 S.C. 306, 313-14, 195 S.E. 638, 641 (1938). An order denying a new trial on this theory will hardly ever be reversed. As Court of Appeals stated, "'to reverse the denial of a new trial motion under [the thirteenth juror doctrine,] we must, in essence, conclude that the moving party was entitled to a directed verdict at trial.'" *Curtis v. Blake*, Op. No. 4792 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 16, 2011) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 6 at 90) (quoting *Parker v. Evening Post Publ'g Co.*, 317 S.C. 236, 247, 452 S.E.2d 640, 646 (Ct. App. 2001)).

A trial judge also has the power to grant a new trial absolute. However, this power may be exercised only when the verdict "is shockingly disproportionate to the injuries suffered and thus indicates that passion, caprice, prejudice, or other considerations not reflected by the evidence affected the amount awarded." *Becker v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 339 S.C. 629, 635, 529 S.E.2d

758, 761 (2000).[3] A jury's determination of damages is entitled to "substantial deference." *Todd v. Joyner*, 385 S.C. 509, 517, 685 S.E.2d 613, 618 (Ct. App. 2008), *aff'd*, 385 S.C. 421, 685 S.E.2d 595 (2009). The decision to grant or deny a "new trial motion rests within the discretion of the circuit court, and its decision will not be disturbed on appeal unless its findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusions reached are controlled by error of law." *Brinkley v. S.C. Dep't of Corrs.*, 386 S.C. 182, 185, 687 S.E.2d 54, 56 (Ct. App. 2009).

If the trial court determines that the verdict is "merely excessive," the court has the power to reduce the verdict by granting a new trial nisi remittitur. "A motion for a new trial nisi remittitur asks the trial court to reduce the verdict because the verdict is merely excessive." *James v. Horace Mann Ins. Co.*, 371 S.C. 187, 193, 638 S.E.2d 667, 670 (2006). Even as to a new trial nisi remittitur, the trial judge's discretion is broad. "The denial of a motion for a new trial nisi is within the trial court's discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion." *Id.*; see also *Bailey v. Peacock*, 318 S.C. 13, 14, 455 S.E.2d 690, 691 (1995) ("If an award is merely inadequate or unduly liberal, the trial judge alone has the discretion to grant a new trial nisi additur.").

"When a party moves for a new trial based on a challenge that the verdict is either excessive or inadequate, the trial judge must distinguish between awards that are merely unduly liberal or conservative and awards that are actuated by passion, caprice, or prejudice." *Nestler v. Fields*, 426 S.C. 34, 40, 824 S.E.2d 461, 464 (Ct. App. 2019).

"A new trial absolute should be granted only if the verdict is so grossly excessive that it shocks the conscience of the court and clearly indicates the amount of the verdict was the result of caprice, passion, prejudice, partiality, corruption, or other improper motive." *Knoke v. S.C. Dep't of Parks, Recreation & Tourism*, 324 S.C. 136, 141, 478 S.E.2d 256, 258 (1996). In such a case,

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